# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Case No.: S262699

BONNIE DUCKSWORTH et al., Plaintiffs and Petitioners,

v.

TRI-MODAL DISTRIBUTION SERVICES, INC. et al. Defendant and Respondents.

On Review From A Published Opinion of the Court of Appeal of the State of California, Second Appellate District, Division 8, Case No. B294872, Affirming Final Judgments On Orders Granting Summary Judgments

> The Superior Court of Los Angeles County, Case No. BC676917 The Honorable Lia Martin, Presiding

# **PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

# I. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Fair Employment and Housing Act ("FEHA; Government Code §§12900 et *seq.*), which protects employees from discrimination and harassment in the workplace, is among California's major civil rights laws. Government Code §12960(d)(now  $(12960(e))^1$ , FEHA's statute of limitations, provides that the time for filing an administrative complaint with the Department of Fair Employment and Housing ("DFEH") begins to run at the time the discriminatory act "occurred." In light of FEHA's remedial purpose, this Court has interpreted §12960(d) liberally to promote resolution of FEHA claims on their merits. Specifically, in regard to discharge, this Court has held that a discharge occurs when the employer actually terminates the employee, not on an earlier date when the employer announces its intent to discharge that employee, because the discharge has yet to "occur." This Court has not addressed whether this rationale applies in the context of a promotion, specifically where the successful candidate is offered and accepts the promotion on a date certain, but the promotion does not take effect until a later date.

*Government Code* §12965(b) addresses costs incurred in a *FEHA* action. This Court has held that costs incurred at trial should not be awarded to a prevailing *FEHA* defendant, "unless the court finds the action was objectively without foundation when brought, or the plaintiff continued to litigate after it clearly became so."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>By enacting *Government Code* §12960(e), the Legislature extended the statute of limitations to three years. That amendment is not relevant to this appeal.

Otherwise, the purpose of *FEHA* "to encourage persons injured by discrimination to seek judicial relief" would be completely undermined if plaintiffs in non-frivolous actions could suffer the imposition of costs if they lose. This Court has not determined if that rationale applies to costs on appeal under Rule 8.278(a)(1) of the *California Rules of Court*.

Against this backdrop and as specified in this Court's August 12, 2020 order granting review, the issues on review are:

1. In a cause of action alleging *quid pro quo* sexual harassment resulting in a failure to promote in violation of the *Fair Employment and Housing Act* did the statute of limitations to file an administrative complaint with the Department of Fair Employment and Housing begin to run when the successful candidate was offered and accepted the position, or when that promotion took effect if there is no evidence that Plaintiff was aware of that promotion on the earlier date?

2. Was it proper for the Court of Appeal to award costs on appeal under Rule 8.278 of the *California Rules of Court* against an unsuccessful *FEHA Claimant*, in the absence of a finding that the underlying *FEHA* claims were objectively frivolous.<sup>2</sup>

# II. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The issues presented by this Brief are matters of first impression and of paramount importance to California public policy, as announced by this Court, that *FEHA*'s statute of limitations be liberally construed and claims arising under *FEHA* be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Plaintiff and Appellant BONNIE DUCKSWORTH has resolved the entirety of the claims alleged by her in the underlying action and therefore is not a party to this appeal.

litigated on their merits, without fear that non prevailing employees be subject to fees and costs where their claims are not objectively frivolous.

Issue 1 relates to Petitioner PAMELA POLLOCK's ("POLLOCK" or "Petitioner") claim of quid pro quo sexual harassment against Respondent MICHAEL KELSO ("KELSO"), Executive Vice President of her employer TRI-MODAL TRANSPORTATION SERVICES, INC., ABILITY TRI-MODAL TRANSPORTATIONS SERVICES, INC. and DECOY FREIGHT SYSTEMS, INC. (collectively "TRI-MODAL"), a trucking and warehouse business, where she has worked as a Customer Service Representative since September 13, 1995. POLLOCK claims that she was denied promotions by KELSO, because she refused to engage in a sexual relationship with him, in violation of FEHA, specifically Government Code §12940(j)(1), (3). Instead, KELSO promoted Leticia Gonzalez from Customer Service Representative to Account Manager. Gonzalez was offered and accepted the promotion in March 2017 but she was not placed in the new position and in TRI-MODAL's own words, Gonzalez' promotion "did not take effect", until May 1, 2017. POLLOCK filed her administrative complaint with the DFEH on April 18, 2018. Both the Superior Court and the Court of Appeal held that the then existing one year statute of limitations in Government Code §12960(d)(now §12960(e)) began to run when Martinez was offered and accepted the promotion in March 2017, because that is when it "occurred, not when

it took effect on May 1, 2017, some six weeks later. As such, POLLOCK's claim was time-barred.<sup>3</sup>

The issue of whether the statute of limitations begins when the successful candidate is offered and accepts the position or when the promotion takes effect has not been addressed by this Court or any other Court of Appeal. As such, it presents a matter of first impression, and its resolution is of the utmost importance to the orderly resolution of *FEHA* claims.

The determinations of the Superior Court and the Court of Appeal that the earlier date governs is contrary to this Court's holding in *Romano v. Rockwell International, Inc.*, 14 Cal.4th 479, 491 (1996) that the *FEHA* statute of limitations (1) begins to run when the employment action at issue takes effect, not when it is announced, and (2) should be liberally construed to permit the resolution of *FEHA* claims on their merits.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Petitioner's *quid pro quo* cause of action also challenges the promotions of employees Mitch Perez, Jaime Guevara, Maria Elizondo, Angel Mejia, Alejandra Gomez and Jessica Ramirez. Those promotions are not addressed here. In his declaration supporting KELSO's summary judgment motion, Tri-Modal Vice President Timothy Mullaney testified that Perez and Gomez were not promoted and the Guevara, Elizondo Ramirez and Mejia promotions were outside the statute of limitations (AA268:1-10). Petitioner objected to that testimony as hearsay, because Mullaney specifically testified that he obtained this information from these persons' personnel files, which were not in evidence (AA267:12-15, 267:27-268:10, 660:24-661:9). The Court of Appeal affirmed the Superior Court overruling these objections based on Mullaney's general averment at the beginning of his declaration that his testimony was based on his personal knowledge (AA267:8-9). The Court of Appeal characterized its ruling as a "close call" and cautioned "litigators: know your Evidence Code when working with declarations." (Opinion at 14; Ducksworth v. Tri-Modal Distribution Services, 47 Cal.App.5th 532, 545 (2020)). Petitioner maintains that the rulings of the Superior Court and the Court of Appeal are erroneous and her objections should have been sustained.

Further, consistent with settled norms of statutory interpretation, the plain meaning of "occurred" is when an adverse employment action takes effect. Consistent with this notion, both TRI-MODAL Vice President of Operations Timothy Mullaney and Carson Street Terminal Manager John Severs, who was to be Gonzalez' new supervisor, testified that Gonzalez' promotion did not "take effect" until the later date, May 1, 2017, when TRI-MODAL actually placed Gonzalez in the position.

The absence of evidence that POLLOCK was aware of Gonzalez being offered and accepting the promotion in March 2017 precludes summary judgment that the promotion "occurred" on the earlier date. That a claim is barred by the statute of limitations is an affirmative defense. An essential element of that defense is evidence that the plaintiff had actual or constructive knowledge that "someone has done something wrong" on the date defendant claims that the statute of limitations began to run. There is no such evidence in this record.

Issue 2 addresses the award of costs in favor of Respondents KELSO, SCOTTS LABOR LEASING COMPANY, INC. and PACIFIC LEASING COMPANY, INC., by the Court of Appeal, without a finding that Petitioner's claims were objectively frivolous. In *Williams v. Chino Valley Independent Fire District*, 61 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 97, 105 (2015), this Court held that the general costs provisions in *Code of Civil Procedure* §1032(b) are supplanted by those costs provisions in *Government Code* §12965(b), which are specific to *FEHA*, and therefore costs should be awarded to a prevailing *FEHA* defendant only upon a finding that the underlying action was objectively frivolous. This Court never has addressed whether its rationale applies to costs on appeal

under Rule 8.278 of the *California Rules of Court* and therefore, this is an issue of first impression. Determination of this issue is of extreme importance.

Statutory attorney fee and cost provisions are interpreted to apply to attorney fees and costs on appeal unless the statute provides otherwise. *Government Code* §12965(b) contains no language specifically excluding appeals from the statutory authorization of costs. Thus, *Government Code* §12965(b), which is specific to *FEHA* and permits an award of costs only where the court finds the underlying action frivolous, must supplant the general cost provision in *CRC* 8.278(a)(1). If permitted to stand, the Court of Appeal's determination will chill the rights of California employees to pursue discrimination actions without fear of oppressive awards for fees and costs, a public policy on which this Court relied in its *Williams* opinion.

# III. PROCEDURAL POSTURE AND STATEMENT OF APPEALABILITY

Petitioner's First Amended Complaint ("FAC"), the operative pleading, alleges two causes of action: the First Cause of Action for failures to promote based on race, and the Second Cause of Action for *quid pro quo* sexual harassment, both in violation of *FEHA* (Appellant's Appendix ("AA") 81-89). The Superior Court entered judgment in favor of Respondents (1) KELSO on November 20, 2018, and (2) SCOTT'S LABOR LEASING, COMPANY, INC. and PACIFIC LEASING, INC., the entities that purportedly leased Petitioner to TRI-MODAL, on December 6, 2018, after having granted their motions for summary judgment (AA 791-798). These judgments are final and appealable under §904.1(a)(1) of the *Code of Civil Procedure*. The Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division 8, affirmed in a published Opinion filed on April 7, 2020 (*Ducksworth v. Tri-Modal Distribution Services*, 47 Cal.App.5<sup>th</sup> 532 (2020)). On April 10, 2020, Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing in the Court of Appeal, addressing the award of costs. The Court of Appeal summarily denied the petition for rehearing by written order filed on April 22, 2020. Petitioner filed her petition for review with this Court on June 11, 2020, which this Court granted on August 12, 2020.

TRI-MODAL also filed a motion for summary judgment on August 30, 2018, which the Superior Court denied on December 19, 2018 (AA 63). On January 9, 2019, the Superior Court issued a discretionary stay of Petitioner's claims against TRI-MODAL, pending resolution of her appeal (AA 61-62).

# IV. FACTS

### A. POLLOCK'S QUID PRO QUO CLAIM.

# 1. POLLOCK's Corporate Employer

TRI-MODAL is an active California corporation, with its principal place of business in Carson, California (AA 372 - Fact No. 64). TRI-MODAL's business is the operation of warehouses and the shipment of freight by trucks (AA 373 - Fact No. 69).

# 2. POLLOCK's Employment History at TRI-MODAL

POLLOCK has been employed as a Customer Service representative ("CSR") at TRI-MODAL, since September 13, 1995 (AA 373 – Fact No. 71). She is one of only two African American CSR's at TRI-MODAL (AA 373 – Fact No. 72). During the entirety of POLLOCK's career, TRI-MODAL never has promoted an African American into a supervisory position and customarily has promoted lesser qualified non-African Americans into those positions (AA87:12-18).

### **3.** The Chain of Command at TRI-MODAL

POLLOCK reports to Assistant Terminal Manager Angel Elizondo, who in turn reports to Terminal Manager Ricardo Velasquez (AA 373 - Fact No 73). Elizondo and Velasquez are Hispanic (AA 373- Fact No. 74). Velasquez reports directly to Vice President of Operations Timothy Mullaney, who reports to Executive Vice President and Respondent KELSO (AA 373 - Fact No. 75). Mullaney and KELSO are white (AA 373 -Fact No. 76).

### 4. KELSO Approaches POLLOCK

In or around August 2014, KELSO invited POLLOCK into his office at TRI-MODAL (AA 625-626 – Fact No. 4). After a brief conversation, KELSO offered POLLOCK a glass of wine (*Id.*). When POLLOCK said she had to leave, KELSO grabbed POLLOCK and kissed her passionately (*Id.*). Up through around June 2016, KELSO and POLLOCK saw each other outside of work 10 to 20 times, going to dinners and movies, and KELSO brought POLLOCK gifts when he travelled out of town, usually tee shirts with the logos of the cities where he had business meetings (*Id.*; AA658:5-6). They would hug and kiss passionately on these dates, and KELSO would become erect (AA 625-626 – Fact No. 4). KELSO would come into POLLOCK's work area and hug and kiss her passionately (*Id.*). He also would sit next to POLLOCK at company meetings and rub her thighs under the table (*Id.*). KELSO sent some 296 pages of emails to POLLOCK on TRI-MODAL's computer, which KELSO admitted was against company policy (*Id.*). POLLOCK asked KELSO if his actions were contrary to the company's rules, which forbade romantic relationships between superiors and subordinates. KELSO responded that those rules did not apply to him (*Id.*).

POLLOCK and KELSO never had sexual intercourse (AA 625-626 - Fact No. 4). KELSO wanted the relationship to become sexual (*Id.*). He offered to fly POLLOCK to Santa Barbara and other cities where he was travelling on business and stay in the hotels with him (*Id.*). But POLLOCK refused. KELSO continually told POLLOCK he "wanted more" (*Id.*). Eventually, KELSO became impatient with and somewhat jealous of POLLOCK, demanding to know where she had been when he was unable to contact her and why she had not returned his calls (*Id.*). KELSO began making racially insulting statements to POLLOCK. On three occasions during dates, when POLLOCK told KELSO she needed to go home, KELSO told her, "go home and cook collard greens" (*Id.*). POLLOCK stopped communicating with KELSO and the dating relationship ceased in June 2016 (*Id.*).

KELSO tried to keep his relationship with POLLOCK secret, but people at the office were suspicious (AA 625-626 - Fact No. 4). POLLOCK's superior, Terminal Manager Ricardo Velasquez, asked POLLOCK why KELSO was spending so much time in her office (*Id.*). The relationship was revealed when POLLOCK filed suit (*Id.*). TRI-MODAL then hired an investigator (*Id.*). As of the dates of the management depositions, no one was aware of the results of the investigation, and KELSO had not been disciplined (*Id.*). However, it appears that KELSO expects some discipline. When

asked in deposition if he had been disciplined for engaging in the relationship with POLLOCK, KELSO responded, "not yet" (*Id.*).

# 5. The Promotion of Leticia Gonzalez

KELSO promoted Leticia Gonzalez from CSR to Account Manager (AA 628:20-27). Gonzalez was offered and accepted the promotion in March 2017, but TRIMODAL did not place Gonzalez in the position, and in TRI-MODAL's own words, the promotion "did not take effect", until May 1, 2017 (AA 268:11-26).

# 6. POLLOCK Files An Administrative Complaint With DFEH

# Challenging the Gonzalez and Other Promotions.

On April 18, 2018, POLLOCK filed an administrative complaint against KELSO with the DFEH, alleging *quid pro quo* sexual harassment in violation of *FEHA* by which she challenged the promotions of Gonzalez, Mitch Perez, Jaime Guevara, Maria Elizondo, Angel Mejia, Alejandra Gomez and Jessica Ramirez (AA 626:11-16, Fact No. 5). The DFEH issued to POLLOCK a right to sue notice that same day (*Id.*).

# **B.** THE COURT OF APPEAL AWARDS COSTS TO RESPONDENTS.

In its April 7, 2020 published Opinion, the Court of Appeal awarded costs to Respondents. There is no finding in the Opinion that Petitioner's underlying claims, all of which allege violations of *FEHA*, are objectively frivolous (Opinion at p. 16; *Ducksworth, supra*, 47 Cal.App.5<sup>th</sup> at 546).

///

///

### V. ARGUMENT

# A. SOUND PUBLIC POLICY AS ANNOUNCED BY THIS COURT AND NORMS OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION MANDATE THAT THE GONZALEZ PROMOTION "OCCURRED" WHEN IT "TOOK EFFECT" ON MAY 1, 2017, NOT WHEN GONZALEZ WAS OFFERED AND ACCPETED THE POSITION IN MARCH 2017.

*Government Code* §12960(d)(now §12960(e)), *FEHA*'s statute of limitations, provides that the time for filing an administrative complaint with the "DFEH begins to run at the time the discriminatory act "occurred." Where the discriminatory act is a failure to promote, the issue of whether the statute of limitations begins when the successful candidate is offered and accepts the position or when the promotion takes effect has not been addressed by this Court or any other Court of Appeal. As such, it presents a matter of first impression, and its resolution is of the utmost importance to the orderly resolution of *FEHA* claims.

# The Public Policy Announced By This Court in *Romano v*. *Rockwell* Mandates That The Gonzalez Promotion Occurred on May 1, 2017.

There is no dispute that Gonzalez was offered and accepted the promotion at issue in March 2017, outside the then existing one-year *FEHA* statute of limitations, but that promotion did not take effect until May 1, 2017, within one year of POLLOCK filing her DFEH complaint. Both the Superior Court and the Court of Appeal held that the earlier date controls and accordingly POLLOCK's claim is time barred.

The determinations of the Superior Court and the Court of Appeal that the earlier date governs runs afoul of California public policy, as announced by this Court in *Romano v. Rockwell International, Inc.*, 14 Cal.4th 479, 491 (1996) that the *FEHA* statute of limitations (1) begins to run when the employment action at issue takes effect, not when it is announced, and (2) should be liberally construed to permit the resolution of *FEHA* claims on their merits.

This Court's holding was premised on (1) the clear language of *Government Code* \$12960, and (2) the established underlying remedial public policy that *FEHA* claims be litigated on their merits:

[B]y the terms of Government Code section 12960 the limitations period applicable to administrative claims begins to run "after" the unlawful employment practice … "occurred." If the administrative complaint must be filed within one year "after" the unlawful practice … occurred, then for the purpose of the complaint, the administrative cause of action must accrue and the statute of limitations must run from the time of **actual termination.** It would not run from earlier date of notification of discharge, because on that date the unlawful practice … has not yet "occurred."

Such an interpretation is consistent with the plain meaning of the statutory language. It is also consistent with the remedial purpose of the FEHA to safeguard the employee's right to seek, obtain and hold employment without experiencing discrimination.

The FEHA itself requires that we interpret its terms liberally in order to accomplish that stated legislative purpose. In order to carry out the purpose of the FEHA to safeguard employee's rights to hold employment without experiencing discrimination, the limitations period set out in the FEHA should be interpreted so as to promote resolution of potentially meritorious claims on the merits ... [I]n addition to being consistent with the plain meaning of the statute ...a construction of the limitation period that favors adjudication on the merits is more consistent with the remedial purposes of the law than one likely to bar potentially meritorious claims.

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