Supreme Court Number S262699

# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

BONNIE DUCKSWORTH, et al.,

*Plaintiffs and Appellants,*

v.

TRI-MODAL DISTRIBUTION SERVICES, et al.,

*Defendants and Respondents.*

---

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal  
For the Second Appellate District  
Second Civil Case Number B294872  
Los Angeles County Superior Court Case No.  
BC676917

---

## ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

---

---

### LEWIS BRISBOIS

### BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

\*Lann G. McIntyre, SBN 106067  
lann.mcintyre@lewisbrisbois.com  
Tracy D. Forbath, SBN 292711  
tracy.forbath@lewisbrisbois.com  
701 B Street, Suite 1900  
San Diego, California 92101  
Telephone: 619.233.1006

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

---

<sup>3</sup> Pollock’s allegations elaborated that Government Code section 12940 makes it unlawful for an “employer and/or an individual to make the terms and conditions of an employee’s employment contingent on her engaging in a sexual relationship.” [1 AA 89.]

when the other employee actually starts the job “occurs” *after* the unlawful practice had already occurred, and could not be the triggering date. (*Romano, supra*, 14 Cal.4th at p. 493.) The Court of Appeal engaged in the same statutory interpretation as did the court in *Romano* and correctly concluded “logically and textually,” the plain meaning of Government Code section 12960 required that the limitations period began to run in March 2017 when Pollock’s injury “occurred.”

In *Romano*, the court addressed the concern that the statutory interpretation might be likely to bar meritorious claims because most employees would not take legal action until after a dismissal has occurred. (*Romano, supra*, 14 Cal.4th at pp. 493-494.) There is no such concern here because the nature of the harassment—denial of a promotion—sufficiently allows employees to be aware of and to begin to pursue their legal remedies. Most employees would not wait for the promotion they were denied to “take effect” to understand they had been harmed and had a potentially actionable claim.

On the other hand, a rule allowing an aggrieved employee to wait until the promotion took effect could impose an undue burden on employers by forcing them to defend stale claims and by creating uncertainty regarding the triggering date for application of the statute of limitations. As was the case in *Romano*, there could be a long period of time between when a promotion is offered and accepted and when the promotion actually takes effect. In Gonzalez’s case, the effective date of her

promotion was delayed while her employer found a qualified employee to take her former position. Labor market conditions and other factors often dictate the interval between offering a promotion and its effective date . [1 AA 271.] The period of time between when the promotion is announced or offered and when an employee can actually start in the position is not always within the employer’s control. Use of the “effective date” of a promotion could lead to the prosecution of stale claims, thus defeating one of the beneficial purposes of the statute of limitations on FEHA claims. (*Ellis v. U.S. Security Associates* (2014) 224 Cal.App.4th 1213, 1221-1222 [one purpose of statute of limitations is to protect parties from “defending stale claims where factual obscurity through the loss of time, memory or supporting documentation may present unfair handicaps.”]) Statute of limitations “promote justice through preventing surprises through the revival of claims that have been allowed to slumber until evidence has been lost, memories have faded, and witnesses have disappeared.” (*Duty v. Abex Corp.* (1989) 214 Cal.App.3d 742, 748-749.) Thus, “even if one has a just claim it is unjust not to put the adversary on notice to defend within the period of limitations.” (*Id.* at p. 749.) As this Court has indicated, the right to be free of stale claims in time comes to prevail over the right to prosecute them. (*Adams v. Paul* (1995) 11 Cal.4th 583, 592; see also *Telegraphers v. Ry. Express Agency* (1944) 321 U.S. 342, 348-349 [88 L.Ed. 788, 792].) A rule that promotes diligent pursuit of employment claims by applying the one-year statute of limitations to the date a promotion is offered promotes

justice and strikes an appropriate balance between the employer's need for repose and the employee's right to pursue a claim.

In addition, application of the statute of limitations to the date the promotion was denied would not promote premature claims because at the point the promotion is denied, the harm has occurred. (*Romano, supra*, 14 Cal.4th at p. 494.) Unlike in *Romano*, where use of the mere notification of a future termination as the triggering date would require the filing of a complaint when harm has not yet occurred, failure to promote claims accrue when the promotion is given to another employee. At that point in time the harm is done and a claim is not premature.

Further the effective date of a promotion can be subjective and difficult for aggrieved employees to determine. The more clear cut act of offer and acceptance of promotion promotes certainty for employers and employees alike.

Both principles of statutory interpretation and the policies behind the statute of limitations require use of the date of offer and acceptance of the promotion as the date from which the limitations period should run.

**B. Plaintiff had the burden to and failed to produce evidence of delayed discovery to avoid summary judgment.**

An additional element of the issue presented for review is which triggering date applies “*if there is no evidence that Plaintiff*

*was aware of that promotion on the earlier date?”* (PFR, p. 5, italics added.) In petitioning for review, Pollock contended the “Court of Appeal suggested that the earlier date should govern, because POLLOCK was *made aware of* the promotion at that time.” (PFR, p. 13, italics added.)<sup>4</sup> According to Pollock, the record is “devoid of such evidence,” and “notions of fundamental fairness mandate that the later date must govern.” (*Ibid.*)

Pollock neither defended the summary judgment motion on the basis of lack of her awareness in the trial court or urged reversal on that basis in the Court of Appeal. Pollock did not assert a delayed discovery exception applied at all. Nor does Pollock accurately portray the Court of Appeal’s decision as “suggesting” Pollock knew of the earlier date of promotion.

The Court of Appeal held that “[t]he statute of limitations for a failure to promote runs from when the employer tells employees they have been given (or denied) a promotion. That date is key, and not the date when the promoted worker actually starts the new work.” (*Ducksworth, supra*, 47 Cal.App.5th at p. 546.) As the court correctly reasoned, “an employer injures the employee by denying a deserved promotion as an instrument of sexual harassment. That moment ‘occurred’ when Tri-Modal allegedly did not promote the deserving Pollock because of sexual harassment.” (*Id.* at p. 546.)

---

<sup>4</sup> Pollock fails to identify with any greater specificity the “suggestion” made by the Court of Appeal other than to refer to pages 14-15 of the typed opinion. (PFR, p. 13.)

The Court then used a hypothetical example to “doublecheck” its analysis:

In this hypothetical, Kelso would tell Pollock, “Today I am giving this promotion to someone else, even though you deserve it, because you rejected my sexual advances.” Such a candid admission would describe grossly illegal discrimination that ‘occurred’ in March 2017, when Kelso denied Pollock a benefit she deserved because Kelso wanted sex from her and she would not give it. So that date triggered the one-year clock.

(*Ducksworth, supra*, at p. 547.)

Perhaps it is this hypothetical to which Pollock refers when claiming the Court of Appeal “suggested” that the earlier date should govern because that was when Pollock was told about it. The Court of Appeal’s discussion, however, is nothing more than a hypothetical that is neither the rationale or the holding of the court. Furthermore, it does not “suggest” that Pollock was made aware of the earlier promotion, or that such awareness was an element of the Court’s analysis. The hypothetical illustrated the Court of Appeal’s analysis of the triggering date or “occurrence” of the unlawful practice as the date when Kelso denied Pollock a promotion for unlawful reasons.

In the case of the one-year limitation period to file an administrative complaint for a FEHA violation, the Legislature has provided a remedy for delayed discovery of unlawful discriminatory employment acts. Government Code section 12960, subdivision (e)(1), provides an additional 90 days to file an

administrative complaint “if a person allegedly aggrieved by an unlawful practice first obtained knowledge of the facts of the alleged unlawful practice during the 90 days following the expiration of the applicable filing deadline.”

Pollock made no mention of this exception in the trial court, in the Court of Appeal, or in her opening brief on the merits in this court. Instead, Pollock now contends the statute of limitations is an affirmative defense and an element of that affirmative defense is evidence plaintiff knew or should have known of the unlawful act on the date defendant claims the statute of limitations commenced. (OBOM, p. 20.) According to Pollock, there is no such evidence in the record. (*Id.* at p. 21.)

Even if it is true that the statute of limitations is an affirmative defense and defendants must prove that the plaintiff's claim is untimely, a plaintiff seeking to establish a triable issue of material fact regarding the affirmative defense has the burden of producing evidence to create a dispute. (*Aguilar v. Atlantic Richfield Co., supra*, 25 Cal.4th at p. 850 [once party moving for summary judgment makes prima facie case showing nonexistence of any triable issue of material fact, burden shifts to opposing party to show a triable issue of material fact]; CACI Nos. 454-455.)

Once Kelso proved that Pollock's claimed harm accrued before the one-year limitation period, the burden shifted to Pollock to prove that she did not have knowledge, did not discover, and did not know of facts that would cause a reasonable

person to suspect she has suffered harm that was caused by someone's wrongful conduct. (*Glue-Fold, Inc. v. Slatterback Corp.*, *supra*, 82 Cal.App.4th at p. 1029.)

The burden shifting to plaintiff is explained to the jury in negligence actions by the Judicial Council of California Civil Jury Instructions (“CACI”) instruction on delayed discovery:

If defendant proves that plaintiff's claimed harm occurred before [date], plaintiff's lawsuit was still filed on time if *plaintiff proves* that before that date, plaintiff did not discover, and did not know of facts that would have caused a reasonable person to suspect, that she had suffered harm that was caused by someone's wrongful conduct.

(CACI No. 455.)

Pollock, however, made no attempt to rely on the delayed discovery rule either in the trial court or on appeal. Kelso's summary judgment motion established that Pollock's claim was untimely because the allegedly unlawful promotion was offered to and accepted by Gonzalez in March 2017 and it was undisputed Pollock did not file her DFEH complaint until April 18, 2018—more than one year later. [1 AA 271.]

In response, Pollock did not dispute that the promotion was offered to and accepted by Gonzalez in March 2017. Pollock's separate statement made evidentiary objections not relevant here and asserted “[a]lso, Ms. Gonzalez's promotion took effect on May 1, 2017, which is within the statutory time period.” [3 AA 627.] Pollock further asserted as an additional undisputed material fact, that ‘Leticia Gonzalez's promotion did not take effect until

May 1, 2017.” [Id. at p. 631.] No additional facts or evidence were presented by Pollock regarding her knowledge of Gonzalez’s promotion or what she discovered or could not discover regarding the offer to and acceptance by Gonzalez of the promotion. [Id. at pp. 623-632.]

Pollock highlights her failure to meet her burden of proving she was entitled to application of the delayed discovery rule when she says unequivocally in her opening brief, “[t]he record is devoid of any evidence that in March 2017, Pollock knew or suspected or should have known or suspected that Gonzalez had been offered and accepted the promotion to Account Manager.” (OBOM, p. 21.) The absence of evidence of Pollock’s awareness of the promotion confirms no disputed question of material facts exists that Pollock’s claim was time-barred and summary judgment was properly granted.

Pollock cites *Cucuzza v. City of Santa Clara* (2002) 104 Cal.App.4th 1031, for the proposition that an element of the affirmative defense that a claim under the FEHA is barred by the limitations period is that plaintiff “knew or should have known of defendant’s unlawful act on the date defendant claims the statute of limitations commenced.” (OBOM, pp. 20-21.) The *Cucuzza* case, however, does not stand for that proposition or address that issue at all. In *Cucuzza*, the court addressed the continuing violation doctrine, the same issue addressed in the then-recently decided case of *Richards v. CH2M Hill, Inc.* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 798—whether the employer’s conduct occurring outside the

limitations period is sufficiently linked to unlawful conduct within the limitations period that the employer should held liable for all of it. (*Cucuzza, supra*, 104 Cal.App.4th at p. 1042; *Alch v. Superior Court* (2004) 122 Cal.App.4th 339, 375, fn. 31 [*Cucuzza* emphasizes exactly what *Richards* decided and adds nothing more].) The *Cucuzza* opinion is devoid of any discussion of when the limitations period for filing a complaint with the DFEH should commence where there is no evidence of plaintiff's awareness of the date of an unlawful promotion being offered and accepted. Significantly, Pollock did not assert the continuing violation doctrine to avoid application of the statute of limitations in the trial court or on appeal.

Pollock's reliance on *Brown v. Bleiberg* (1982) 32 Cal.3d 426, 439, for the notion that an element of a statute of limitations affirmative defense is that plaintiff knew or should have known of defendant's unlawful act on the date the limitations period is claimed to commence is mistaken. (OBOM, p. 20.) *Brown* addressed the tolling of the limitations period on a medical malpractice claim where a podiatrist allegedly misrepresented the nature of the operation he performed and prevented plaintiff from discovering the negligent cause of her injuries. (*Brown, supra*, at pp. 437-438.)

The issue presented here involves no concealment. Rather, Pollock asks the court to resolve the issue whether the date a promotion is offered and accepted, or the date the promotion takes effect is the operative date for commencement of the

limitation period, if there is no evidence that plaintiff was aware of that promotion on the earlier of the two dates. This case does not involve a claim that defendants concealed anything from Pollock. Nor does *Brown* address the burden of proving entitlement to a delayed discovery exception to the one-year limitations period, which rested squarely with Pollock.

Plaintiffs failed to meet their burden of establishing a triable issue of material fact regarding the limitations period and cannot rely on the delayed discovery rule for the first time now.

**C. The delayed discovery exception should not be considered because Pollock forfeited the issue by failing to raise it below.**

Pollock's only defense to Kelso's summary judgment motion in the trial court and on appeal was that as a matter of law, the date the promotion took effect, not the date it was offered and accepted, was the date the one-year statute of limitations began to run. Pollack never contended defendants failed to demonstrate an element of their statute of limitations defense. Pollack never raised the argument that Kelso failed to show Pollock knew or should have known of the promotion on the date it was offered and accepted.

Regardless of who had the burden of proof, Pollock forfeited the argument because she never raised it in the summary judgment proceedings or in the Court of Appeal. (*North Coast Business Park v. Nielsen Construction Co.* (1993) 17 Cal.App.4th 22, 28-29 [alternate basis of liability not raised by appellant in

opposing summary judgment motion below will not be considered on appeal]; accord *Kolani v. Gluska* (1998) 64 Cal.App.4th 402, 412 [failure to raise issue or argument in the trial court results in forfeiture on appeal]; see also *Munro v. Regents of University of California* (1989) 215 Cal.App.3d 977, 988-989 [party may not change theory of a cause of action on appeal and raise issue not presented in opposition to summary judgment].) This court should not consider this issue as it was not raised below.

## **II. An Award of Costs On Appeal Pursuant to Rule 8.278 in a FEHA Action Does Not Require a Finding the Action Was Objectively Frivolous.**

Pollock contends the costs recoverable on appeal should not be awardable in a case involving a FEHA claim absent a finding the underlying action was objectively frivolous. (OBOM, pp. 22-23.) According to Pollock, Government Code section 12965, subdivision (b), “supplants” the cost provisions of Rules of Court, rule 8.278, which applies to costs on appeal. Pollock is mistaken.

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